
National Park Authority  - 21 June 2021 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held as a VIRTUAL 
MEETING ON MONDAY, 21ST JUNE, 2021 AT 10.00 AM when your attendance 
is requested.

Yours sincerely

Stephanie Evans

Transition  Director

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 21 June 2021 2

If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 14)

1. To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair to sign them
as a correct record:
 

a)     Extraordinary General Meeting – 14-05-21
b)    National Park Authority – 28-05-21

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chair since 
the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 TRANSITION DIRECTOR'S  ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Transition Director on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

A: DECISION ITEMS

7 PRUDENTIAL CODE TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT AND 
BORROWING APPROVALS FOR 2021/22 (Pages 15 - 18)

8 REMIT OF THE POLICY FORUM (Pages 19 - 30)

9 PHOSPHATES: THE CURRENT SITUATION AND SUGGESTED 
NEXT STEPS (Pages 31 - 44)

B: ITEMS FOR INFORMATION



National Park Authority  - 21 June 2021 3

10 HEAP PROJECT PLAN UPDATE (Pages 45 - 72)

11 SALARY HEADROOM REPORT (Pages 73 - 74)

12 RISK REGISTER (Pages 75 - 86)

13 MEMBER REPORTS 

To receive any reports from members.

14 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

15 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been
notified to him in advance.

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes – Angharad.hawkes@beacons-npa.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 14 May 2021

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD VIA PUBLIC-I ON FRIDAY, 14TH MAY, 2021

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr Phil Pritchard and Cllr E Roderick

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Christopher Coppock, Mr James Marsden, Liz Davis, Canon Aled Edwards and Sue Holden

In Attendance

Stephanie Evans, Transition Director
Sean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies
Cllr McNicholas, Cllr M Colbran and Stedman

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 14 May 2021

58/21 Correspondence 

The Chair thanked Cllr James Evans in his absence, and congratulated him on his election 
to the Senedd, which had required him to step down from the Authority.  He also 
thanked Cllr Phil Pritchard for his years of service to the Authority, as he had not been 
returned by Powys County Council.  He advised of two new appointments from Powys, 
Cllr Iain McIntosh, returning to the Authority, and Cllr Jon Williams.
 

59/21 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.
 

60/21 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.
 

61/21 Additional Day's Holiday 

The Transition Director advised that the two other Welsh National Parks had granted an 
additional day’s leave to staff in recognition of the hard work carried out during the 
pandemic.
 

RESOLVED:  That an additional day’s leave be 
granted to all staff to be taken in this leave year.

 
 

62/21 Access to Information 

RESOLVED: 
 
a)  To exclude the press and public from the meeting 

during consideration of item 6 in accordance 
with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
as amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 
b) To exclude the press and public from the meeting 

during consideration of item 7 in accordance 
with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
as amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 14 May 2021

 

63/21 A verbal update on the Authority from the Transition Director 

The Transition Director gave a short presentation summarising her view of the Authority, 
its current staffing levels, progress made and continuing risks and opportunities.
 
Members welcomed this analysis and thanked the officer for her hard work.  It was 
suggested that the whole Authority would benefit from seeing the risk register as 
presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee, and this would be brought to the next 
meeting.
 
Offers of help and advice from members were reiterated.
 

64/21 Provision of Monitoring Officer and Legal Support 

Members considered a proposal to recruit a full time, fixed term combined post of 
Solicitor, Monitoring Officer and Data Protection Officer.
 
The Monitoring Officer advised that he would be leaving the Authority on 30 June but 
that he supported the proposal based on his analysis of risk and the need for a full time 
post so that officers had access to proper legal advice as needed.  The Transition Director 
highlighted the areas of risk for the Authority.
 
A range of views were expressed, including a suggestion that a full time post was not 
necessary, and one that it should be a permanent post.  There was also the view that the 
decision should be left for the incoming Chief Executive.  The Transition Director 
reiterated the urgent need to fill the role now, but advised that a 12 month appointment 
would give some flexibility to the CEO.
 
The process leading up to this report was also questioned and the Transition Director 
advised that it was her judgement to bring the proposal to the Authority based on her 
own analysis of what was required. Additional issues had also arisen since the original 
proposal was withdrawn from the Authority agenda of 16 April 2021.
 
The point was made that the Data Protection Officer role would need to be included in 
the job description, but that the Transition Director should have delegation for such 
amendments if the recommendations were approved.
 

RESOLVED: 
 
a) The recruitment of a 12 month, full time, fixed 

term combined role for Solicitor, Data Protection 
Officer and Monitoring Officer be approved, grade at 
75% CEO Chief Officer; 

 
b) That recruitment to this role be delegated to 

the Transition Director in consultation with the 
Chair of the Authority;

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 14 May 2021

 
c) That the Transition Director and Chair of the 

Authority have flexibility to vary the hours and 
combination of roles of the person approved to 
maximise the choice of candidates for the role;

 
d) That should the Authority find itself with a gap 

between the departure of the current MO and 
DPO on the 30th June and the new appointee, the 
Authority delegates authority to the Transition 
Director and Chair to fill this gap. 

 
 

65/21 Any Other Business 

There was no further business.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 28 May 2021

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD VIA PUBLIC-I ON FRIDAY, 28TH MAY, 2021

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Roderick, Cllr McIntosh and Cllr Williams

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Christopher Coppock, Mr James Marsden, Liz Davis, Canon Aled Edwards, Sue Holden and Mr 
Julian Stedman

In Attendance

Stephanie Evans, Transition Director
Sean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Julia Gruffydd,  Democratic Services Manager
Helen Lucocq, Strategy and Policy Manager

Apologies
Cllr Ratcliffe, Cllr McNicholas, Cllr A James and Cllr Amos

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 28 May 2021

66/21 Correspondence 

The Deputy Chair, Liz Davis, chaired the meeting in the absence of the Chair.  She noted 
apologies and welcomed three new members as a result of changes in Local Authority 
appointments:  Cllr Iain McIntosh (Powys), Cllr Jon Williams (Powys) and Cllr Julian Amos 
(Merthyr Tydfil).  Cllr Amos was unable to join the meeting because of technical issues.
 
The Chair had written to the three members completing their terms of office:  Cllr Phil 
Pritchard, Cllr James Evans and Cllr Malcolm Colbran.
 

67/21 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.
 

68/21 Minutes 

RESOLVED: 
 
a)         To approve the  minutes of the National Park Authority held 

on 16th April 2021 and authorise the Chair to sign them as a 
correct record; 

b)         To receive the minutes of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee held 
on 29th January 2021.

 
 

69/21 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.
 

70/21 Chair's Announcements 

The Deputy Chair advised that she and the Chair had met with other Chairs recently to 
discuss some of the Audit Wales Report actions.
 

71/21 Transition Director's Announcements 

The Transition Director updated members on a number of issues, the most significant 
being her decision to delay the timetable for completion of the Local Development Plan in 
response to the impact of phosphates on the Authority’s business and the likelihood of 
the plan being unsound due to the level of constraints on this. She would be writing to 
Welsh Government on this, and a paper would be brought to the additional meeting of 
the Authority on 21 June 2021. Stakeholders would be consulted on the way forward.
 

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 28 May 2021

Audit Wales had advised that their next three Park audit would be on sustainable tourism; 
an officer group would meet shortly to discuss how they would work with Audit Wales. It 
was noted that the phosphate issue would also impact on tourism and the Transition 
Director agreed to advise Audit Wales of this.
 
It was noted that the Transition Director had secured additional support to enable 
progress to be made with the structure of the Leadership Team and to address key issues 
such as performance and risk.  Mark Evans would be working part time and would be 
seeking meetings with members.
 

72/21 Evidence Position Statement 

Members considered the draft Position Statement which had been deferred from the last 
meeting and subsequently considered again at Policy Forum.
 

RESOLVED:  That Members endorse the Evidence 
Position Statement as the position of the Authority. 

 

73/21 Interim Supplementary Planning Guidance: Retail Centres 

Members were advised that following their agreement to consult on the draft 
Supplementary Planning Guidance in February, the situation had changed as Welsh 
Government had agreed a temporary removal of the need for planning permission for 
many time of proposal covered in the SPG. Officer proposed to revisit this once this 
temporary removal expired. 
 
In response to a question officers confirmed that at that stage they would seek agreement 
to reconsult on any proposed changes.
 

RESOLVED:  To revisit the merits of approving the draft 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on LDP Policy 42(C) 
Development in Retail Centres once lessons have been 
learned from implementing the current temporary 
permitted development rights as set out in Classes C–E, Part 4A 
of The Town and Country Planning (General 
permitted Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (Wales) 
Order 2021 (“the Amendment Order”).

 
 

74/21 Member Reports 

The Landscape and Biodiversity Champion reported on a meeting of the Wye Nutrient 
Management Board and Dwr Cymru Welsh Water’s assessment of the source of 
phosphate pollution on the Wye catchment.  In response to a question he advised that 
the data had been endorsed by regulators and checked by Natural Resources Wales.  All 
reports had been passed to officers.
 

Page 11



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 28 May 2021

A member referred to being in possession of alternative data and was asked to forward 
this to the Policy Team.
 
In relation to a question about a potential challenge on the basis of lived experience an 
officer advised that as set out in the Position Statement on Evidence checks and balances 
would be carried out to ensure that nothing was taken at face value.
 

75/21 Gifts & Hospitality 

No declarations were made.
 

76/21 Access to Information 

RESOLVED:  To exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 12 in accordance 
with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 
13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 

The Deputy Chair advised that recording should now cease.
 

77/21 Recruitment of Ecologist (policy) 

Members considered a proposal for an additional Ecologist post on the establishment to 
deal with policy development, implementation and monitoring to address the phosphate 
issue.
 
Members were generally supportive and recognised the advocacy part of this role.  It was 
also suggested that the role should be general rather than specific so that it could be 
adapted to meet changing needs in future.
 
The point was also made that members needed to understand the cumulative financial 
impact on decisions to add to the staff establishment.
 

RESOLVED:  That an Ecologist (Policy) is added as a full-
time permanent post to the establishment.

 

78/21 Any Other Business 

1.     A member raised issues in relation to phosphates and how the Authority was 
considering data, which he felt was not always presented in a balanced way.  As 
this was not a scheduled item of business, with no supporting papers, the Deputy 
Chair asked him to share all the evidence he had and to discuss this with the Chair 
and Deputy Chair of Policy Forum.

Page 12



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 28 May 2021

 
2.     The Democratic Services Manager highlighted the forthcoming AGM on 30 July 

and reminded members that in line with procedures agreed last year she would be 
seeking self-nominations for key posts at the end of June.

 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1.0 Treasury Management Report 2020/21 and Borrowing Approval 
2021/22

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 21 June 2021

Report Author Elaine Standen

Job title Finance Manager

Contact Details 07854 997516

Purpose of Report Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Decision to retain existing precautionary borrowing limits is 
essentially neutral as the Authority is debt-free but is a 
requirement of CIPFA’s Prudential Code for treasury 
management.

List of  Enclosures none

Recommendation(s) a) That the Authority continues the present arrangements in 
relation to operational and authorised borrowing limits and 
Treasury Management for 2021/22

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Prudential Code, published by CIPFA  (The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy) requires the Authority to regularly monitor a number of indicators to ensure 
that:

o It is in a healthy financial position 
o It can afford any borrowing that it is planning.
o It has a clear strategy for managing its resources in the coming year.  

1.2  AFFORDABILITY 

No applicable indicators as the authority is debt-free

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1.3  PRUDENTIAL BORROWING LIMITS

The Authority is currently debt free.  Most of the recommended indicators are not applicable. 

However the Authority is required under the Code to set Authorised and Operational limits 
for external debt. 

Authorised Limit - this is the authorised limit for all borrowing plus that for other long-term 
liabilities such as finance leases. It is recommended that the limit of £500,000 continue 
to be used.  This would be used, if required, to finance any short-term cash flow shortfall and 
also to cover the notional liability arising from entering into a leasing agreement which falls 
under the definition of a finance lease.

The Authority has not, to date, needed to borrow for cash flow purposes but may acquire a 
notional liability if any finance leases are entered into.

Operational Boundary – this is based on the Authority’s probable level of borrowing and in 
theory may occasionally be breached. It acts as an early warning of unexpected increases of 
borrowing. Breaches should be monitored by the Finance Manager and reported to Members.

 It is recommended that the Operational Boundary continue to be set at nil.  If a 
notional liability did arise on entering into a finance lease under accounting rules or an urgent 
requirement for funds necessitated short-term borrowing, the Finance Manager would advise 
the Authority.

1.4 TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY AND INDICATORS

These indicators are designed to ensure that an Authority does not expose itself to 
unacceptable risks in relation to interest rate fluctuations on sums either borrowed or 
invested by the Authority.   As interest rates continue to be very low, income receivable 
from this source is limited and expected to be so for the coming year.

As stated above those indicators relating to borrowing have no application to the Authority 
while it is debt free.   As noted, Bank of England interest rates remain very low (0.01%) and 
expected to remain so in the medium term.   Access to significantly higher rates is only possible 
with the Authority’s current banking services provider if balances are invested for fixed terms 
of 6 months or more or in notice accounts.  

The receipt of Welsh Government Funding in advance to be spent over a number of financial 
years on a range of projects has added to the balances held in earmarked reserves by the 
Authority and helped to increase the cash surplus held.  To ensure that more interest can be 
earned from the funds, an amount of £2.8 million is held in a Barclays 95-day notice account.  
Consideration is being given to investing additional funds in this account.  Interest rates even 
for this type of deposit are at historic lows.   Funds can be transferred into the current account 

Page 16



at short notice in the case of unforeseen cash pressures but with loss of interest.  All other 
surplus funds are automatically transferred to a Barclays bank savings account on an immediate 
access basis which attracts a minimal level of interest.  The Authority’s basic banking services 
are currently free of charge, which is worth an estimated £3,000 per annum in reduced costs.  

The recommended limits for the coming year for fixed and variable interest investments are 
shown in the table below.   There is a minimal risk that an unexpected increase in variable 
interest rates might mean a small loss of income if the Authority’s surplus funds had already 
been placed on deposit at a fixed rate.  The options for investing surplus funds will continue to 
be monitored during the year, subject to developments in interest rates.  All the Authority’s 
accounts track the Base Rate.

2020/21

Actual

2021/22

Estimated

Total interest receivable on cash and bank balances. £7,203 £5,000

Upper limit* for fixed rate 0% 0%

Upper limit** for variable rate 100% 100%

Effective range within which interest exposures 
will be managed :

Fixed rate (% of total invested) 0% 0%

Variable rate 100% (ie all investment) or*** £3.9m £4.4m

*the maximum proportion of the authority’s surplus cash which can be invested in fixed 
interest accounts, eg bonds and treasury deposits.

**the maximum proportion of the authority’s surplus cash which can be invested in variable 
Interest rate accounts, eg deposit accounts.

*** estimated maximum cash balance plus £2.8m in 95-day notice account (variable rate 
linked to Base Rate).

1.4 Risks
Risks may arise from instability in financial markets and failures of financial institutions and, as a 
small Authority, BBNPA’s ability to mitigate these risks by spreading investments across a range 
of institutions and financial products as a larger body would do is very limited.  However, it can 
minimise risk by placing its funds only with banks which have a very high credit rating from the 

Page 17



established ratings agencies.  Barclays Bank PLC has consistently high and stable ratings.  The 
Authority’s LGPS Pension Fund investments are held and managed by Powys County Council in 
accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations.  The economic impact of Covid19 continues to cause uncertainty and instability in 
financial markets.   

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a)  That the Authority continues the present arrangements in relation to operational and 
authorised borrowing limits and Treasury Management policy for 2021/22.

Page 18



The Role of Policy Forum in the development of National Park Policy

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date June 21st 2021

Report Author Stephanie Evans, 
Contributors:
Helen Lucocq
Dr Paul Sinnadurai
Sean O’Connor
Julia Gruffydd

Job title Transition Director

Contact Details Stephanie.evans@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To review the role of Policy Forum in policy development

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1 -  Monitoring Officer's review of working groups 
/ formal committees available to the Authority

Annexe A -  Policy formation since 2018 (part of this report)

Annexe B -     Other areas of Operational Policy (part of this 
report).

Public Interest Test Not Applicable

Recommendations a) The role and remit of the various working groups 
including Policy Forum as outlined in 1.2 is 
adopted for National Park policy development.

b) The proposed working group / committee road 
map as outlined in1.2.2 is adopted for the 
development of National Park policy.  

c) That the Terms of reference for Policy Forum and 
the Policy Programme management Group be 
redrawn in line with 1.2.

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



1.1 Introduction or Background

This paper has been prepared partly in response to the Audit Wales Report: Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority – Delivery of the Change Programme Feb 2021, but also as a review of whether Policy Forum as 
currently constituted serves the needs of the Authority in support of policy formulation.

Recommendation 3 of the Audit Wales Report states:

R3 We recommend that the Authority improves decision making by: 

•  (3.1) reviewing the role of the Park Policy Forum, how it works in practice and in relation to the 
constitution and the proper decision making of the executive (Authority); and

•  (3.2) Ensuring all relevant papers to Authority meetings are written in plain, simple and clear language 
that explains technical terms, avoids ‘jargon’ and clearly sets out the rationale for recommendations.

This paper addresses 3.1 and considers the role of Policy Forum as well as the general cycle for policy 
development. In preparation for this paper: 

a. The Monitoring Officer has led a review of the types of working groups / formal committees 
available to the Authority and mapped these to the working practices of Policy Forum (see 
Enclosure 1 to this report).

b. The Monitoring Officer prepared a draft report which was circulated to staff for comment.

c. The Transition Director chaired a discussion on June 4th involving the Chair (James Marsden) & 
Deputy Chair (Cllr. Graham Thomas), Helen Lucocq – policy lead, Chris O’Brien (senior policy 
officer), Julia Gruffydd (Democratic Services Manager) and Sean O’Connor (Monitoring Officer).

d. The above group has reviewed this paper prior to it being published for NPA.

The next stage in the review is to bring recommendations to the Board for consideration (this paper).

The Transition Director, as a relatively new addition to the Authority, has approached the Review by 
seeking first to identify and reach a consensus on what the essential ingredients for robust, evidence 
based policy development are, before secondly, considering whether Policy Forum as currently 
constituted delivers all of these ingredients in the right combination.

Policy Forum to date has facilitated high quality, effective debates on the difficult policy areas the 
Authority faces in this fast-changing world, where the climate and nature emergencies are paramount. 
These debates have often been supported by excellent, stimulating external speakers. The room for 
debate, informed by expertise must not be lost in any change in the role of Policy Forum. A stocktake of 
the valuable work led by Policy Forum is included below at Annexe A.

It should also be acknowledged that this is the third review of Policy Forum that has taken place in three 
years since its inception in June 2018; it is incumbent on us to work together to make this the final 
review for the foreseeable future.

Page 20



Finally, this report has been prepared with recommendation 3.2 of the Audit Wales Report in mind - i.e. 
the paper is not overly detailed nor technical, but rather seeks to focus on the higher-level framework 
the National Park Authority requires for policy development.

What are the policy documents the Authority is required / wishes to produce?

(from) A Welsh Government Framework Document for Wales’ National Park Authorities (Revised 
April 2021)

1.7 Each NPA is required by Section 66 of the EA 1995 to prepare, publish and review, a National Park 
Management Plan.  The Plan is the overarching vision for the National Park as a whole.  The Plan 
should be updated as necessary, but at least every five years the whole document should be reviewed, 
including consultation with partner organisations and members of the public, to ensure its content is 
current and up-to-date and to reflect the wider political context.  

The Management Plan is the plan which sets out the strategic direction for the National Park. Other 
policy documents the Authority is required to produce include the Local Development Plan and the 
Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP). Other work, including the Authority’s partnerships, direct 
investments (including projects) and any agreed advocacy campaigns, should all align with this strategic 
direction. The Corporate Plan sets out the annual work programme and resource allocation, based on 
the Management Plan. Our Performance Management systems measure how effective our work is in 
achieving our stated strategic direction. There are other areas of operational policy as shown in 
Annexe B below.

So, for these reasons, this paper has considered policy development through the prism of how we 
produce the National Park Management Plan, although recommendations apply equally to all areas of 
policy development.

Producing the National Park Management Plan requires the Authority to address a wide range of 
complex and challenging policy areas. To be effective, this requires officers to present advice based on 
the best available evidence and enough time for members to consider this evidence carefully before 
reaching their decisions. Thus, robust policy development requires:

a. Officers recommending policy which is based on the best available evidence and nested within 
the strategic policy and regulatory framework. Working with key stakeholders such as Welsh 
Government and NRW is key. Officers must also make members aware of any risks associated 
with any policy decisions.

b. The Board of the National Park Authority in its entirety to decide the final strategic direction of 
the Management Plan and the policies within it, including a summary of the views received 
through consultation.

c. A safe forum for members to hold detailed debates on all aspects of policy before this comes to 
the Board for formal decision. These discussions can be aided by external speakers provided the 
link to the policy being debated is clear.

d. The Head of Paid Service is accountable for the quality and the timely publication of the 
National Park Management Plan and its ongoing review.

e. Stakeholder Reference Panel (see table below)

Page 21



Because of the complexity and the timeframe for plan production, bringing policy in manageable chunks 
as it develops, to NPA for decision, is recommended. This has been the working practise of the Policy 
Officers Group to date (and lead officers working on key work areas previously) – to bring policy 
Position Statements to Policy Forum for debate, debates being often accompanied by external speakers, 
before the Policy Position Statements are recommended to NPA for decision.  The following statements 
have been developed (or are being developed) through this process, 

Climate Change (adopted December 2019)
Woodland Restoration and Expansion (adopted December 2019)
Peatland River and Wetland Restoration (adopted May 2020)
Sustainable Rural Economies (adopted October 2020)
Evidence (adopted May 2021)
Future Farming Transition (to be finalised)

1.2 Proposals

For the above reasons the following structure is recommended.

Relevant 
Body

Type / purpose of group Chaired Includes

Policy 
Programme 
Management 
Group / 
Working or 
Task and 
Finish group.

(Replaces 
Management 
Plan Project 
Board)

Responsible for the delivery of the 
Management Plan Programme according to 
the delivery agreement and in compliance 
with the regulatory framework.

Agrees draft Policy Position Statements to 
go forward to Policy Forum.

Sets Management Plan Programme around 
key milestones (generally decision-making 
points)

Meets monthly / 6 weekly as policy cycle 
dictates.

Not a decision-making body

CEO Key policy 
officers.

3 members 
(including 
Chair & 
Deputy Chair 
of PF)

Stakeholder 
Reference 
Panel

Provides expert overview and scrutiny of the 
draft policy proposals of NPMP21 and to 
make recommendations for policy 
improvement to officers.

Draws together key stakeholders and 
technical experts to bring an external point 
of reference to the policy development and 
implementation of the NPMP21. 

CEO Officers and 
external 
Stakeholders 

Page 22



Relevant 
Body

Type / purpose of group Chaired Includes

Advisory, not decision making.

Policy Forum Provides a non-public space for members to 
consider detailed Policy Position Statements 
prior to them being brought to NPA for 
decision.

Agenda.

 Agreed by the CEO & Chair of Policy 
Forum.

 Aligned with the Management Plan 
Programme (above), and,

 Aligned to the Policy Position statement 
for debate

 Includes space for external speakers on 
topics relevant to Policy Position 
Statements being debated

 Policy areas come to Policy Forum 
according the agreed programme for 
policy development.

Not a decision-making body.

May need to divide into 2 sections – speakers 
and debate or these two functions could be 
separated.

Chair of 
Policy 
Forum 
(member)

All Member 
invite.

Chair to be 
elected at 
AGM

NPA Approves Policy Position Statements and 
proposed policy for Management Plan.

Consideration of the above as set by the 
Management Plan Programme after aligned 
Policy Forum debate has taken place.

Approves final Management Plan (and other 
policy documents).

Chair of 
NPA

All Members
Relevant 
officers
Potentially key 
partners 
invited to 
participate / 
answer 
questions

Page 23



1.2.2 There may be other possible groupings of the above but the key point is to establish a logical, 
repeatable approach to core policy development i.e. which delivers policy to the agreed 
timeframe.

1. Officers develop draft policy in consultation with key stakeholders, 
2. Draft policy is brought topic by topic to policy Forum for all Members to ask questions, 

challenge and debate
3. Policy is redrafted in light of 2
4. Recommended policy is brought to NPA for decision.

1.3 Implications

The recommendations strengthen and make clearer the role of Policy Forum and 
related officer and stakeholder groups engaged in the programme for policy 
development, and the opportunities and roles for all key stakeholders and Members to 
participate in policy development, prior to its arrival at NPA for decision.

1.4 Risk

If not approved, lack of clarity about the role of Policy Forum and other working groups 
etc. will remain.

1.5 Conclusion

This paper seeks to clarify the remit of internal policy working groups, how we work 
with key external stakeholders and decision-making bodies of the National park 
Authority. It also seeks to ensure that staff and all Members have an opportunity to 
learn more about and debate policy before it comes to NPA for final decision.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) The role and remit of the various working groups including Policy 
Forum as outlined in 1.2 is adopted for National Park policy 
development.

b) The proposed working group / committee road map as outlined 
in1.2.2 is adopted for the development of National Park policy  

c) That the Terms of reference for Policy Forum and the Policy 
Programme Management Group be redrawn in line with 1.2.

Page 24



Annexe A – policy development process over the past 3 years

Policy document NPA 
decision 
date 

Policy Forum discussion Policy Forum 
date(s)

Workshop indicators and 
targets for assessment 

1/10/2018LDP/NPMP Sustainability 
Assessment Framework
(public consultation)

14.12.2018

Review of assessment work 
and final read through prior to 
NPA 

19/11/2018

LDP issues and objectives / 
Strategic Development 
Options workshop

18/01/2019
20/02/2019

LDP2 Preferred Strategy 
2019
(public consultation)

25/06/2019

Risk and policy development
Housing Growth
Preferred Strategy
Vision and objectives 

22/03/2019
8/6/2019

Corporate Plan 2019/20
Adoption

12/02/2019 First read through and 
discussion

18/01/2019

Evidence and Policy 
Position Statement
Adoption

28/05/2021 First read through as evidence 
protocol and discussion

19/7/2019
30/04/2021

Climate change Position 
Statement
Adoption

10/12/2019 First read through and 
discussion

27/09/2019

Woodland Position 
Statement

10/12/2019 First read through and 
discussion

?

Corporate Plan 2020/21
Adoption

26/06/2020
07/08/2020

Second read and discussion 19/6/2020

State of the Park Report
Endorsement

07/08/2020 First read through and 
discussion 

17/07/2020

Peatland river and wetland 
restoration Position 
Statement 
(Adoption)

26/05/2020 First read through and 
discussion

13/03/20

Sustainable Rural 
Economies Position 
Statement
(Adoption)

30/10/2020 First read through and 
discussion 

02/10/20

Revised Delivery 
Agreement (public 

30/10/2020 Discussion around covid 
impacts and need for revised 

15/05/2020

Page 25

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=5398&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6557&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=6517&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7918&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7712&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7712&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7768&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7770&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7770&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7814&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7873&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7873&Ver=4&$LO$=1


Policy document NPA 
decision 
date 

Policy Forum discussion Policy Forum 
date(s)

Delivery Agreement and 
Preferred Strategy

consultation)

Read through of proposed 
revised Delivery Agreement

19/6/2020

Discussion around revised 
strategy 

17/7/2020‘Towards a Preferred 
Strategy2’ 
(public consultation)

30/10/2020

Read through ‘Towards a 
revised preferred strategy’ 
consultation document 
explaining shift in direction

02/10/2020

NPMP Review 19/7/2019
27/09/2019

Policy discussion – Climate 
change and nature recovery – 
workshop of key ideas

22/11/19

Stakeholder identification for 
NPMP 

15/5/20

Issues identification 
methodology

15/5/2020

Stakeholder analysis 19/06/2020

High level issues identification 
for NPMP

19/06/2020

Issues Report for stakeholder 
engagement

17/7/2020

Carbon budget discussion 4/9/2020

1st draft NPMP for discussion 2/10/2020

NPMP Issues, Vision and 
Objectives
(public consultation)

15/12/2020

Reviewed project plan and 
future strategic direction 

6/11/2020

Historic Environment 
Action Plan  - Vision and 
Objectives (consultation)

(24.9.2021) Project plan and discussion of 
strategic focus

4/9/2020

Policy discussion – woodland 
creation 

19/06/2020

Policy discussion – water 
quality Wye and Usk

17/07/2020

Policy discussion – future 
farming

04/09/2020
02/10/2020
06/12/2020

Draft National Park 
Management Plan 
(consultation)

(24.9.2021)

Policy discussion – nature 
recovery

02/01/2021

Page 26

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7873&Ver=4&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=7954&Ver=4&$LO$=1


Policy document NPA 
decision 
date 

Policy Forum discussion Policy Forum 
date(s)

Policy discussion – rewilding 
and social impacts 

26/02/2021

Policy discussion – phosphate 
in riverine SACs and Mega-
catchment

12/03/2021

Policy discussion – Payments 
for ecosystem services

30/04/2021

Policy discussion – honeypot 
sites and over-tourism

(25/06/2021)

Policy discussion – Carbon 
budget and community energy 
audits

(12/07/2021)

Annexe B – Other policy areas.

1. Illegal off-road vehicle use

2. Arson and wildfires

3. Wild camping

4. Shooting on Authority-owned and managed land

5. Hunting on Authority-owned and managed land

6. Flying and operating of drones

7. Flying of tame raptors across or from Authority-owned land

8. Fly tipping in the Park

9. Roadside litter in the Park

10. Removal of memorials (plaques, stones, flowers, dolls, teddy bears etc...) from Authority-owned 
and managed land, from all Access land and PRoW

11. Who we will enter management agreements with and for what reasons

12. Establishing MoA with landowners, MoD etc.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Table 1 : Comparison of different types of decision making or decision informing bodies within a local authority that operates under Committee system. Compared with Policy Forum.

Characteristic of body Type of body
Committee of Authority Working Group Policy Forum

Nature of Body Formal committee of NPA under s101 LGA1972 Usually a smaller number of members (and/or officers) convening to discuss or work through
an issue

A standing number members (and/or officers) convening to discuss or work through an issue

Purpose of Body Normally to discharge a function of Authority (such as PAROW) or a power (similar to
SDF)

Usually convened with a specific task or role to discharge. Role is usually within a larger
project or task and outputs are part of consideration by a decision making body

to perform the duties are set out in the Terms of Reference

Decision making Yes Not decision making Not decision making - however it is stated to 'have an advisory role and make recommendations to the
Authority' which is a decision even though the ToR then states 'this is not a decision making body'.

Types of Decisions Any decisions on behalf of and bind the Authority provided (i) within Terms of Reference
and (ii) not a function that cannot be delegated at law.

N/A N/A

Size of Body Smaller than full Authority but must be ratio of 2 LG to 1 WG. Ordinarily at least 3
members. Can include voting or non voting co-opted members

Normally a select number of members relevant to the task at hand. Ratios for balance
ordinarily still applied. A Working Group does not normally include all members (but it isn't
prevented).

All Member forum. Open to all officers.

Period of activity of Body Normally Standing Committee that lasts at least one entire municipal year Normally convenes until the issue or matter is resolved. Ordinarily short in nature but can
last considerable time (e.g. Local Plan Working Groups).

Standing Working Group - formed with intention to last entire year and consider matters as arise & in
accordance with the forward plan (informed by future plan & policy requirements)

Notice of Meetings Subject to requirement to publish notice of meeting at least 3 working days prior to
meeting.

None required Publishes notice of meeting in Authority public calendar and in accordance with Standing Orders

Live Broadcast Requirement Requirement to broadcast meeting to public under LG&E Act 2021 No requirement No requirement

Forward Programme/
Agenda Setting

By proper officer. Chair of committee can also place items on agenda. 5 members have
right to add matter to Agenda

Ordinarily the lead officer. ToR does not clarify but understood CEO acts to set the agenda and forward programme.

Agenda Agenda set by proper officer. Consultation can occur with chair on timing of items etc. Agenda will ordinarily be set by the lead officer indentifying the issues to discuss or
determine. However no formal agenda necessary

Agenda is published on Mod Gov (not publically available). Papers available on Mod Gov to those
within Authority.

Minutes / Broadcast of
Meeting

Minutes must be kept and formally approved by Committee. Meeting normally live
broadcast (subject to access to information requirements for confidential/exempt items)

No requirement to keep minutes or broadcast in any particular format or at all. Actions
normally recorded and progressed by officers.

No requirement to keep minutes/broadcast but minutes are kept and adopted

Chairman Yes - appointed either by Authority or by the Committee. Has all powers provided to
Chair in standing orders

Ordinarily no chair is required. In practice the most senior or experienced member may take
a lead.

Chairman appointed at full Authority AGM. Due to numbers of officers/members in attendance, a
degree of formality and direction by the Chair (as per the Standing Orders) is necessary.

Chairman SRA Allowance payable by Authority for committees Ordinarily no Chair but even if appointed then no allowance ordinarily associated Chairman not in receipt of SRA.
Standing Orders Ordinarily the standard Authority rules apply to the subcommittee. Variations permitted

to enable subcommittee to transact business with more efficacy.
No standing orders apply. Unnecessary due to informal manner of debate or work. Standing Orders does not strictly apply to Policy Forum but appears that many have been adopted in

practice.
Public Speakers Right to address Committee in accordance with Standing Orders No right to address Committee - invite only No right to address Committee - invite only
Confidential/Exempt Matters Matters are public unless resolution passed to move into private session as

exempt/confidential matters.
No public access/right to speak or public minutes minutes so all business is in private No public access/right to speak or public minutes so all business is in private

Welsh Language Agenda and minutes to be published in both Welsh and English Not normally needed but no requirement for translation. No public Agenda or minutes so translation not required.
Members CoC/DoI applies Yes Yes Yes

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Phosphates: The current situation and suggested next steps

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 21st June 2021

Report Author Stephanie Evans, Transition Director

with contributions from 
Helen Lucocq – Strategy and Policy Manager 
Christopher O’Brien, Senior Policy Officer
Bridgit Schofield – Planning Ecologist

Job title Transition Director 

Contact Details Stephanie.evans@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report This paper aims to:
a) Identify the extent of the issue as it is currently 

understood;
b) Identify the remit of the National Park Authority 

in addressing and combatting the phosphate issues, 
actions we are required to take, those we can take 
in addition and those where we must use advocacy 
and work through partners; and

c) Identify how we maximise our impact through 
targeted activity.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures None

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a) That the report be noted and that regular 
updates on actions undertaken by the NPA 
be brought to Members as a standing item, 
including information on:

I. Establishing a River Usk catchment 
management board and partnership.

II. The activity of the River Wye Nutrient 
Management Plan Board, Technical 
Advice Group and catchment 
partnership.

III. The work of the WG oversight board 
and planning sub-group.

Page 31

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Stephanie.evans@beacons-npa.gov.uk


2

IV. Our actions as a ‘competent authority’; 
including establishing protocol and 
procedures for Habitats Regulations 
Assessment across all the activities of 
the National Park Authority.

V. Planning statistics.
VI. Asset management, including the 

National Park Visitor Centre.
VII. Communication, education and 

involvement activity. 

1. Introduction

1.1 Members will recall discussions at both Policy Forum1 and Planning and Rights of Way 
Committee (PAROW)2 relating to a dangerous level of ‘phosphates’ in rivers across 
Wales. 

1.2 Phosphate is an indicator of a much wider state of environmental decline – the 
freshwater equivalent of the canary in the coalmine – an early warning sign of 
increasing toxicity that demonstrates our natural resources are being stressed 
unsustainably.

1.2 As the Transition Director outlined in her announcements at the National Park 
Authority meeting of the 28th of May, there is an urgent need to baseline the extent 
and cause of this issue and to identify and communicate the National Park Authority’s 
role in addressing it.

1.3 This paper is the next stage of an ongoing discussion which will require future, periodic 
updates to members. The phosphate issue is complex, with multiple contributors and 
Authorities, with overlapping regulatory regimes, of which the National Park Authority 
is only one.  This paper aims to:

d) Identify the extent of the issue as it is currently understood;
e) Identify the remit of the National Park Authority in addressing and combatting 

the phosphate issues, actions we are required to take, those we can take in 
addition and those where we must use advocacy and work through partners; 
and

f) Identify how we maximise our impact through targeted activity.

2. The extent of the phosphates issue as it is currently understood

2.1 Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) form part of the National Sites Network which 
aims to safeguard Europe’s most valuable and threatened species and habitats. In 2021, 

1 22/01/2021: Item 7 https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/documents/g7897/%2022nd-Jan-
2021%2010.00%20Policy%20Forum.pdf?T=110&$LO$=1 
2 26/01/2021: ENC7Item 8 https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=7764

Page 32

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/documents/g7897/%2022nd-Jan-2021%2010.00%20Policy%20Forum.pdf?T=110&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/extranet/documents/g7897/%2022nd-Jan-2021%2010.00%20Policy%20Forum.pdf?T=110&$LO$=1
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=7764


3

Natural Resources Wales (NRW) published an assessment of Water Quality in 
Riverine Special Areas of Conservation3 (“the assessment”). It is anticipated the 
findings of the assessment will not be updated until 2024 at the earliest.

2.2 Within the National Park, the assessment details that critical limits (i.e. the levels of 
phosphorous) are being breached in both the River Wye / Afon Gwy and River Usk / 
Afon Wysg SACs, meaning the rivers are unable to maintain priority habitats and the 
species they support. The River Towy / Afon Twyi SAC has also been identified as 
having limited headroom for any increase in phosphate levels.

2.3 It is widely acknowledged that there are five main categories of human activity which 
contribute to excess phosphate in rivers:

1. Sewage and wastewater (point source): human waste, cleaning products 
and drainage.

2. Erosion and other forms of soil loss (diffuse): phosphate in soils is lost 
through ‘run off’, from erosion or ploughing.

3. Agricultural (diffuse): fertilisers - both chemical and organic / animal waste.
4. Development (point source): can act to increase human inputs
5. Visitors (point source and diffuse): can act to increase human inputs

3 Compliance Assessment of Welsh River SACs Against Phosphorus Targets 21 January 2021

Page 33

https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/water-reports/compliance-assessment-of-welsh-river-sacs-against-phosphorus-targets/?lang=en


4

                                                                                                                              Figure 1 NPA influence on sources of phosphate pollution      

P
age 34



5

2.4 Four different assessments have provided an indication about the sources of 
phosphates in the River Wye / Afon Gwy SAC:

 Lancaster University: RePhoKus project slide pack presented to Wye Nutrient 
Management Board on 19 January uses 2016 data for the River Wye SAC, which 
shows 75% apportionment to agriculture (most of which is from livestock, 
imported livestock feed and manure), and 25% to Sewage Treatment Works. 

 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water: Tony Harrington (DCWW Environment Director) 
informed the Brecon Beacons National Park Policy Forum (July 2020) that, on 
completion of the current Asset Management Programme (AMP) 2020-2025, 
DCWW would have done its 'fair share' of phosphate load reduction against 2027 
WFD targets. The fair share apportionment is based on the 2018 Natural 
Environment Programme (NEP) (NRW, Environment Agency and Natural England) 
and agreed by Ofwat, the Water Services Regulation Authority.

 Natural England: 2017-19 assessment against the 2016 JNCC Common 
Standards. Phosphate source contribution predictions based on Source 
Apportionment Geographical Information System (SAGIS) modelling shows 66% 
apportionment to agriculture, 25% to Sewage Treatment Works and 9% to ‘other’ 
in the Upper Wye Sub Catchment.

 Natural Resources Wales: Compliance Assessment carried out in 2020 against 
the revised 2016 Common Standards. NRW's advice states the available evidence 
does not link critical limit exceedances to Intensive Poultry Units, and it does not 
say anything definitive about causality from livestock, imported livestock feed and 
manure.

2.4 For the River Usk SAC, whilst pointing to overgrazing, soils and underlying geology as 
potential causes of critical load failures in the headwaters, Natural Resources Wales’ 
Compliance Assessment carried out in 2020 against the revised 2016 Common 
Standards concludes further investigation is needed about the sources of phosphates.

2.5 Led by Dwr Cymru Welsh Water and being overseen by NRW, the results of these 
further investigations are expected in October 2021.  

3. The concept of the ‘competent authority’ and co-ordination with other 
competent authorities

3.1 Regulation 7 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (“the 
Habitats Regulations)4 defines the term “competent authority” broadly to include, 
amongst others, statutory undertakers and public bodies of any description.

3.2 Part 6 of the Habitats Regulations requires all competent authorities to carefully 
consider, by means of screening and where necessary assessment, any project or plan 
(including proposed development) which may have a significant adverse impact on any 
site comprising the National Sites Network. These assessments are commonly 
referred to as ‘Habitats Regulations Assessment’, Stage 1 being the ‘screening’ and 
Stage 2 being the ‘Appropriate Assessment’.

4 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/regulation/7/made 

Page 35

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/regulation/7/made


6

3.3 The requirements apply to all Special Areas of Conservation, but in relation to 
phosphates they apply to the River Wye / Afon Gwy , theRiver Usk / Afon Wysg and 
the River Towy / Afon Twyi SAC catchments.

3.4 The broad definition of the term “competent authority” has driven the emergence of 
collaborative structures of communication between competent authorities; ensuring 
alignment in initiatives and actions of each towards the goal of returning to safe level 
of ‘phosphates’ in rivers across Wales. Whilst not all competent authorities are yet 
engaged, emerging collaborative structures are depicted in figure 2 below:

Figure 2: Emerging collaborative structures

3.5 The table below identifies the organisations that have control or influence over the 
five sources of phosphate pollution. The final column describes their current areas of 
influence / control as well as areas where control could usefully be extended. 

Organisation Role Responsible for 
Natural Resources 
Wales (NRW) 

Regulator Control of waste and environmental 
permitting.  Regulatory body in relation 
to discharge to rivers. 
Expert advice to NPA on protected 
species & sites 

Page 36



7

Organisation Role Responsible for 
Expert advice to NPA on 
issues relating to private sewage 
works.   
Registers and advises on private 
treatment works. 
 
Could actively monitor private treatment 
works 
 

Welsh Government 
(WG) 

Regulator Defines agricultural standards required 
for receipt of farming 
subsidy (currently Glastir, in future the 
Sustainable Farming Scheme (SFS)  
 
Monitor compliance with the above 
(Rural payments Inspectorate) 
 
Could define best practice for manure 
management/fertiliser use/ soil 
management  
 

Brecon Beacons 
National Park 
Authority as Local 
Planning Authority 
(LPA) 

Regulator Responsible for local development 
plan. 
The control of new 
development using screening under 
the Habitats Regulations (see 
below) and undertaking appropriate 
assessment in the event of likely 
significant effects.   
 
Includes using planning conditions to 
control development. 
 

Powys and 
Monmouthshire 
County Councils:

Regulator Responsible for local development 
plans, local planning decisions, 
environmental health (including 
monitoring private package 
treatment works and cess pits), 
financing and delivering a wide range 
of projects and Sustainable Drainage 
Approval Body (SAB) consenting 
sustainable drainage in almost all 
new development.

 
Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water (DCWW) 

Service 
providers 

Statutory undertakers in relation to the 
provision of clean safe drinking water 
and the processing or all waste water.  
Responsible for processing waste-
water and sewage much of which is 

Page 37



8

Organisation Role Responsible for 
discharged into river systems once 
processed.   
 
NRW requires some discharges to 
be ‘phosphate stripped’ but this is a 
costly and carbon intensive process 
and is not applied to all Treatment 
Works. Where it is available, domestic 
loading is considered to be ‘neutral’. 
 

Land Managers and 
Farmers 

Service 
providers 

Managing the run-off from animal waste 
and from organic and inorganic 
fertilisers applied to the land. 
 
Adoption of best practice in relation to 
manure management and fertilizer 
use can reduce loading into the 
catchment.  
 

Brecon Beacons 
National Park 
Authority in enacting 
2nd purpose and duty 

Service 
providers 

Providing / enabling tourism services - 
additional visitors to the Park mean 
extra phosphates primarily 
through waste-water as above.  
 
This potentially has an impact on 
National Park Management Plan and 
other tourism related policy and 
actions i.e. promoting tourism and 
initiatives such as Day to stay. 
 

 
Environmental non-
government organisatio
ns eg. Wye 
and Usk Foundation 

 Actors Organisations focused on improving 
the ecological health of the river 
catchments.   
Can develop and manage nature-based 
solutions to naturally remove 
phosphate from the catchments,  
Can work with landowners to advise 
on water friendly land management 
practices.  
Can be a forum for partners. 
 

Non statutory farming 
advisory bodies e.g. 
Farming Connect 

Actors Organisations focused on improving 
farming practice.  Trusted advisors 
who assist farmers with adjusting to 
new regulatory regimes through 
training, grant provision and 
mentoring.   
Currently working with farmers to 
help manage waste in line with the new 
Regulations5  including providing grant 

5 The Water Resources (Control of Agricultural Pollution) (Wales) Regulations 2021

Page 38



9

Organisation Role Responsible for 
for developing covered manure 
stores.   
Through their action there is potential 
for significant reductions in phosphate 
loading in the catchment. 

Brecon Beacons 
National Park 
Authority in enacting 
1st purpose 

Actors Nature recovery work on the ground 
can have significant benefit in 
phosphate reduction, eg, peatland 
projects will improve soil stability, 
improve water retention, reducing run 
off and therefore helping prevent soil 
run off into rivers.  
 
NPA funded project work (via Welsh 
Government grant) has the potential to 
influence phosphate contributions to 
rivers. 

Brecon Beacons Mega 
Catchment 

 Actors  DCWW led stakeholder grouping 
aimed at using nature based solutions 
to improving water quality.  

4. Maximising the positive impact of the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority as a ‘competent authority’

4.1 Like other competent authorities, the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
undertakes a wide range of activity which are to be considered by means of a ‘Habitats 
Regulations Assessment’.

4.2 Key activities include:

 Plan making: Preparation of the National Park Management Plan and Local 
Development Plan and associated evidence bases.

 Plan implementation: Determining planning applications, responding to EIA 
screening and scoping requests and project initiation, delivery and funding e.g. 
Sustainable Development Fund.

 Asset management: Preparing and implementing conservation management 
plans for authority owned land, visitor centres and other tourist infrastructure.

 Communication education and involvement: Ensuring our messages, 
education provision and opportunities for involvement help to address the 
phosphates issue. 

 Partnership working: Ensuring our partners help to address the phosphates 
issue. 

4.2 Furthermore, party to a statement of compliance to the International Union 
Conservation Nature, which was made jointly by the UK’s National Parks in 2013, the 
Brecon Beacons National Park is recognised as a Category V Protected Area on the 

Page 39



10

World Database of Protected Areas and as having  core management philosophy of 
maintaining a harmonious interaction of nature and people. 

4.2 The statement of compliance makes clear that for National Park Authorities in Wales, 
the conservation and enhancement of natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage is 
the first purpose. Noting that other purposes and duties also exist, the statement 
makes clear that where there is conflict with these, the first purpose takes priority.

4.3 Also known as the ‘Sandford principle’, where irreconcilable conflicts exist between 
conservation and public enjoyment in National Parks, the conservation interest must 
take priority.

4.4 If any were needed, this provides the National Park Authority with clear direction on 
the priority and significance to which the phosphate issue needs to be addressed. 

4.5 To date:

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has contributed to the River Wye 
Nutrient Management Plan Board, its Technical Advice Group and the Wye 
Catchment Partnership.

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is represented on the Welsh 
Government Nature Recovery Action Plan’s Biodiversity and Planning Forum.

 A Welsh Wye and Usk planning group has been established. 
 Speakers have presented to the National Park Policy Forum (including NRW, 

DCWW, Wye and Usk Foundation, CPRW, FUW, CLA EnTrade: Wessex Water, 
Triodos, INNS project,  RSPB and the Wildlife Trusts)

 A decision6 has been taken to pause preparation of the replacement Local 
Development Plan (known as LDP2) for 12 months pending further understanding 
of the scope for future development to be accommodated in the National Park.  

 A decision has been taken to employ an additional ecologist.
 All planning applications are being screened by the National Park Authority in 

accordance with Natural Resources Wales’ latest guidance. 

4.6 Whilst these actions go some way to establishing communication, raising awareness 
of the issue with the National Park Authority members and staff and safeguarding 
against additional phosphate loading in the catchments, as critical limits are already 
being exceeded, urgent action is still needed to reduce the phosphate levels until such 
time as they are reported as being within safe limits.

4.7 The NPMP21 Vision and Objectives document has highlighted both the scale of 
ambition necessary to ‘solve’ the issue, and also the need for partnership working to 
deliver on that ambition.  

6 Members were informed of this decision at NPA in the 28th May 2021

Page 40



11

Figure 3: Extract from NPMP21 Vision and Objectives

4.8 Effective and co-ordinated partnership action within each of the impacted catchments 
will be needed to make good on this strategic objective between competent 
authorities and:

 People: Residents and visitors to the National Park;
 Businesses: including tourism, retailers, developers, land managers and farmers;
 Business advice: including Farming Connect; and
 Civil Society: community groups, non-governmental organisations.

4.9 The Brecon Beacons Mega Catchment Partnership, the Beacons Water Group, the 
emerging Usk Valley Life Project and the preparation of river basin management and 
catchment flood management and catchment abstraction management plans by the EA 
and NRW each provide an opportunity to establish a River Usk catchment 
management board and partnership, equivalent to that which is in place for the River 
Wye.  

4.10 We should seek to convene or contribute to establishing such a partnership at the 
earliest opportunity. Furthermore, we must hold ourselves to the highest standards in 
our actions as a ‘competent authority’. 

4.11 Furthermore, we must be an active advocate and demonstrator of good practice 
within wider structures for action. In some instances, this would require a strategic 
refocusing of work priorities, staff training and for protocols and procedures to be put 
in place. 

 Evidence to inform plan making: 
o Seek from NRW, a comparable apportionment assessment (i.e. SAGIS 

Phosphate source contribution predictions) for the River Usk against the 
2016 Common Standards used as a basis for their 2020 Compliance 
Assessment.

o Advocate for WG to undertake and publish the results of detailed 
monitoring of all new agricultural development permitted.

o Report relevant planning data to WG/Planning subgroup.
o Explore evidence around the concept of nutrient betterment in 

ecosystems where critical loads are being exceeded.

 Plan implementation: 
o Develop and implement protocol and procedures for Habitats Regulations 

Assessment across the activity of the National Park Authority.

Page 41



12

o Refuse planning applications which will increase phosphate loading within 
affected catchments.

o Conduct HRA of the Sustainable Tourism Strategy and use results to 
amend if necessary. Use findings as communication tool to highlight the 
socio-economic impacts of the phosphate issue.

o To implement the ROWIP (path erosion) and emerging Peatland 
Restoration Strategy.

 Asset management: 
o Be exemplars of phosphate processing at our own visitor centres –utilising 

nature-based filtration systems for wastewater treatment as demonstration 
projects.

o Promote soil health and nature-based management solutions; demonstrate 
best practice on National Park Authority land.

 Communication, education and involvement: 
o Cease all promotional work within impacted catchments, advocacy with 

partner organisations to focus on attractions outside of affected 
catchments.

o Use temporary interpretation panels at busy sites to draw visitors’ 
attention to the phosphate issue (potentially linked to natural water 
filtration installations).

o Advocate for DCWW future investment programmes to include 
phosphate stripping in all wastewater treatment plants in SAC catchments 
(whilst acknowledging that this is only a temporary solution to a long-term 
issue).

o Communicate the benefits of reducing domestic phosphate outputs, 
including advocating for behaviour change around use of phosphate 
containing cleaning products.

o Share guidance and supported social media posts around good septic tank 
and soakaway maintenance.

o Create a clean water education programme to deliver with visiting schools.
o Include information on phosphate pollution as part of our ambassador 

programme.
o Create a clean water ‘stamp’ to award to businesses and events which can 

be shown to be creating betterment towards nutrient neutrality for their 
promotional work.

o Only promote/attend events which have viable waste management schemes 
which demonstrate nutrient neutrality.

o Advocate for the Welsh Government to create bespoke farming subsidy 
schemes which enable the issue to be tackled. 

o Promote nature friendly farming in the National Park
o Implement communication strategy with all stakeholders highlighting 

impact of phosphate on new development.

 Partnership working: 
o Advocate for and assist in the development of riparian restoration to 

stabilise soils along riverbanks.

Page 42



13

o Use our convening powers to bring together landowners and 
eNGOs/investors to develop a nutrient trading system based on the 
development of natural phosphate stripping systems (integrated wetlands 
and tree planting).

o Work with Farming Connect to create help deliver phosphate friendly 
farming training/advice centres within the National Park.

o Work with agricultural colleges to deliver phosphate friendly farming 
training modules.

o Work with landowners to advise on water friendly land management.

5. Recommendations

b) That the report be noted and that regular updates on actions undertaken 
by the NPA be brought to Members as a standing item, including 
information on:

VIII. Establishing a River Usk catchment management board and 
partnership.

IX. The activity of the River Wye Nutrient Management Plan Board, 
Technical Advice Group and catchment partnership.

X. The work of the WG oversight board and planning sub-group.
XI. Our actions as a ‘competent authority’; including establishing protocol 

and procedures for Habitats Regulations Assessment across all the 
activities of the National Park Authority.

XII. Planning statistics.
XIII. Asset management, including the National Park Visitor Centre.
XIV. Communication, education and involvement activity. 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Historic Environment Action Plan Project Update

Name of 
Committee

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Date 21 June 2021

Report Author Alice Thorne (MCIFA)
Job title Heritage Officer (Archaeology)

Contact Details Alice.Thorne@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report a) Progress update
b) To consider amending the project plan

Current project plan agreed at Policy Forum on (Sept 2020) 

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Project Plan 

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a) That Members note the amended project plan

1.1 Introduction or Background

Members will  recall reviewing the project plan for the formulation of the Brecon 
Beacons Historic Environment Action Plan in September 2020.

Since that date: 
 Preparatory work and Stakeholder Analysis has been undertaken.
 Two stakeholder workshops have led to consensus for the framework of a 

Brecon Beacons National Park Historic Environment Partnership comprised of a 
core group and broader forum.

 The Brecon Beacons Historic Environment Partnership core group has been 
established, and comprises:

o Dr Paul Belford. Director, Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust. 
https://cpat.org.uk/home/about-us/  (Chair)

o Janet Bailey. Branch Lead, Brecon Beacons Young Archaeologists Club. 
https://www.yac-uk.org/clubs/brecon-beacons (Vice chair)

Page 45

Agenda Item 10

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcpat.org.uk%2Fhome%2Fabout-us%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770096388%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=xHuDPl3%2FQqLMN8ZkA9nZgEMk%2F%2FYBylPWkdTr6mwlXAk%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.yac-uk.org%2Fclubs%2Fbrecon-beacons&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770096388%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=NfGZ4cZrHfuqO9xjZZtqLgOrY3OsZTDmuiHRh2R4zgg%3D&reserved=0


o Dr Liz Bickerton. Trustee, the Brecknock Society and Museum Friends. 
https://brecknocksociety.co.uk/about/

o Anna Irwin. Inspector of Historic Buildings, Cadw. https://cadw.gov.wales/
o Martin Buckle. Chair, Brecon Beacons Park Society. 

 https://www.breconbeaconsparksociety.org/about-bbps/
o Dr Toby Driver. Senior Investigator (Aerial Survey), The Royal 

Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales. 
https://rcahmw.gov.uk/about-us/

o Elizabeth Jeffreys. Project Director of the Brecon Heritage & Cultural 
Network. https://breconstory.wales/home

 Mr. Julian Stedman as the Brecon Beacons Member Champion for Heritage is 
our Authority’s representative.

 The core group has met twice.
 The internal project board has met six times.

1.2 Proposals

Whilst real progress has been made, it is now apparent that amendments to the project 
plan previously discussed by Members are necessary. 

Enclosure 1 to this report defines an amended project plan summarised as:

 Timetable. Adoption of the Historic Environment Action Plan in September 2022 
(previously September 2021)

 Project governance. 
o Member Champion for Heritage as project sponsor 
o Head of Planning Services/ Heritage Manager as Project Client
o Strategy and Policy Manager as Project board Member
o Heritage Officer (Archaeology) as Project Manager 
o Policy Assistant as Administrative Support

 Removal of Annex 1: NPA Objectives from HEAP (Extract from Corporate Plan 
2020/2021)

 Insertion of Appendix 1: Historic Environment Partnership Agreement (Previously 
Draft terms of Reference for the HEP and HEAP)

 Insertion of Appendix 2: Purpose of the Historic Environment Partnership 

These amendments are desirable in part because establishing the framework of a Brecon 
Beacons National Park Historic Environment Partnership collaboratively took more time 
and resource than originally anticipated and preparation of the Historic Environment 
Action Plan in such a manner likewise, will likely take longer than originally anticipated. 

Furthermore, resource identified in the existing project plan (e.g. administration 
support) has yet to come on stream. 

Page 46

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fbrecknocksociety.co.uk%2Fabout%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770076395%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=XU8XG96aWZnhLHC063Bq%2FVTuK%2BevJZ3ghaI5J1WBe0A%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcadw.gov.wales%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770086390%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=9pvfuGbvukvnEGchuQm6nmDuwo0ao2x4G2mQ1QzK52A%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.breconbeaconsparksociety.org%2Fabout-bbps%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770086390%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=Wvf8sJfBh4nAJCyEk3ldqnU6GL3aExmsCLCtfMkAQ1M%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Frcahmw.gov.uk%2Fabout-us%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770106386%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=bYQCuWADDV94jO42bxCHybRR4zfPHWtFwcoAwlnXV1Y%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fbreconstory.wales%2Fhome&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770106386%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=Mzg0Devp2Lu6ULu7Aa5ubvdS0FGDPW%2FEwCxRsnNwEuo%3D&reserved=0


1.3 Implications

Amending the project plan will enable the Historic Environment Action Plan to be 
developed collaboratively with the newly formed Brecon Beacons Historic Environment 
Partnership. If adopted in September 2022, the plan would be in place to inform the 
Corporate Plan from 2023 onwards. 

1.4 Risk

The project plan attempts to define the critical tasks necessary to deliver on the HEAP 
and as such seeks to minimize risk placed on the Authority.

1.5 Conclusion

Great progress has been made – most significantly the Brecon Beacons Historic 
Environment Partnership has formed. To ensure the collaborative nature continues, it is 
necessary to amend the project plan.  This report sights members on the progress to 
date and plans to develop the HEAP.  

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) To note the report. 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Historic Environment 
Action Plan

2021

PROJECT PLAN V2
BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK

Page 49



2

Introduction

Through our Statutory Purposes and Duty, the Authority is tasked with the conservation and 
enhancement of the cultural heritage of the National Park, this is a fundamental element of our 
function. The historic environment is the physical manifestation of our cultural heritage.  It 
comprises the myriad of historic features within the landscape which taken in totality tell the story 
of the people and forces which shape our history.   It is vital that this resource is managed in the 
public interest to provide a rich and diverse cultural store for all to enjoy.    

“The historic environment is a vital part of the cultural identity of Wales. It is made up of many individual 
historic features which are known as historic assets. Historic assets include individual historic buildings and 
archaeological remains, historic parks and gardens, conservation areas and townscapes, historic landscapes 
and World Heritage Sites. All these historic assets contribute to the distinctive character of all our places 
and to the quality of Welsh life. It is also a finite, non-renewable resource that we should sustain for the 
benefit of our own and future generations” 

Cadw (2011) Conservation Principles1 

The historic environment is a fundamental contributor to the special qualities and character of our 
National Park. It enrichens our connections to the National Park as a place and helps us understand 
our history.  Our historic environment is significant as an educational resource, as a recreational 
facility and as an economic generator. It is also a threatened resource, under pressures from the 
need for future development, agricultural change, climate change, visitor management and neglect.  

There are numerous heritage organisations operating within the National Park, each individually 
grappling with these issues, each with limited resources and scope for action. In order to make best 
use of the resources available to manage the Historic environment within the National Park a more 
coordinated approach is essential.

This project plan sets out the process by which the Authority aims to bring together all interested 
heritage organisations to form an active historic environment partnership (HEP) to develop a 
combined Historic Environment Action Plan (HEAP) for the Brecon Beacons National Park.  The 
programme takes it’s lead from the exemplary work of the Nature Recovery Action Plan (NRAP) 
developed through the Local Nature Partnership to which the NPA is a contributory and founding 
member.  However, unlike the NRAP the development of a Historic Environment  Partnership is 
unsupported by wider frameworks.  The project plan presented here represents a pioneering 
approach to the management of the historic environment of the National Park, and one we hope 
will gain traction and support from other governing bodies across Wales.  

The HEAP will define the nature of the National Park’s historic environment spatially differentiated 
through the Landscape Character Areas (LCA), and identify pressures to assist with change 
management. The HEAP will then provide a practical programme of action to conserve and enhance 
the historic environment.  The programme of action will be agreed and implemented through the 
collaborative action of the HEP.   It is considered that through the HEP we will be better able to 
apportion scarce resources to the management of the historic environment.

Through this collaborative action we intend to develop a pathway to achieving the 
vision of a thriving, enjoyable, sustainable, and easily understood historic environment 
for all.

1 https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/conservation-principles/conservation-principlesPage 50



3

1.0 Aims, objectives and project milestones

1.1 The aim of the HEAP is to provide a strategic focus and greater available resources for the 
management of the historic environment within the National Park.  In doing so the aim is to ensure 
that the interrelations between the historic and natural environment are recognised and strengthened 
for mutually beneficial outcomes.

1.2 In developing the HEAP, the Authority aims to have achieved the following by 2026: -

• Improved working relations with key stakeholders within the heritage sector through the 
constitution of the HEP 

• To have defined an agreed suite of shared objectives for the management of the historic 
environment of the National Park

• To have increased capacity and access to resources available for the management of the 
historic environment within the National Park through the collaborative action of the HEP 

• To have demonstrated the interconnectedness of the historic, natural, and anthropogenic 
environments, identified trade-offs, and articulated future actions to deliver multiple benefits

• To have increased the percentage of Scheduled Monuments (SMs) and Listed Buildings in good 
condition; and to have reduced the number of designated heritage assets at risk

• To have increased the extent of historic landscapes, parks and gardens in good condition 
and/or under favourable management.

• To improve our townscapes and the settings of our historic assets by realising the 
opportunities afforded by designating Conservation Areas and developing Placemaking

• To seek to protect and enhance regionally and locally important historic environment features 
(including both buildings and archaeological sites), which do not benefit from statutory 
protection 

• To celebrate the physical and cultural heritage of the National Park; To improve access to HE 
information in support of deeper engagement with our communities and visitors.

• To integrate HEAP with the BBNPA Management Plan and other park wide policies

Page 51



4

P
age 52



5

2.0 Project Scope 

2.0.1 The requirement for the HEAP was established through the Change programme, which both 
recognised the significance of the historic environment and the current fragmented 
management of the resource across the National Park.

2.0.2 In accordance with the “Plan of Plans” approach the HEAP is identified as a component of 
the National Park Management Plan and has been prioritised for delivery through the 
Corporate Plan.

2.0.3 The project was designed to be delivered within 12months, this has proved untenable with 
available resource and working arrangements.  This second version of the project plan, it is 
now anticipated as a 24 month project.

2.1 Project governance

2.1.1 The National Park Authority will co-ordinate and provide the secretariat for the 
development of the HEP and the HEAP.  

2.1.2 The HEAP will be supported by a cross-departmental project team who will provide 
knowledge, expertise and administrative support to the HEP and co-ordinate the 
development of the HEAP.  The project team will be overseen by an internal project board, 
which will report to NPA.  The Policy Officers Group (POG) will provide strategic oversight 
of the development of the HEAP to enable Lead Officers operating from across the 
corporate body to be co-opted to the Project Team as ‘contributing professional leads’ as 
and when is determined necessary by the POG.

2.1.3 Project team

The project team will comprise the following (see section 3 for details of roles and 
responsibilities)

 Project Client: Head of Planning/Strategy and Policy Manager
 Project Manager
 Communications Officer
 Administrative Support.

In addition, members of the POG will have an open invitation to the Project Team and can 
co-opt lead Officers to the Project Team as ‘contributing professional leads’

The Project Team will:

 Undertake all duties in relation to consultation on the draft HEAP, including 
publication of consultation materials on the Authority's website

 Process all consultation responses into a comprehensive report for response by the 
HEP

 Revise the draft HEAP as agreed through the HEP and present it to the Project 
board for final sign off.

 Develop a communication plan for delivery of HEAP, working with the BBNPA 
communications team

2.1.4 Project board

Page 53



6

The remit of the project board is to act as the Authorities steering group, to ensure that the 
HEAP recommended to policy forum and NPA is endorsed by the Board. The role of Policy 
Forum is to ensure that the HEAP aligns with policy in the Management Plan, Corporate Plan 
and Local Development Plan.

The project board will comprise the following key Officers/Members. 

 Project Sponsor: Heritage Member Champion
 Project Client: Head of Planning/Strategy and Policy Manager
 Heritage Deputy Member Champion
 Strategy and Policy Manager

In addition, the Chairs of PAROW and Policy Forum have an open invitation to the Project 
board but are not core members.

The project board will have decision making powers in relation to the 

• Organisations eligible to sit on the HEP.
• The recommendation to seek NPA agreement to consult on the draft HEAP
• The recommendation to seek NPA agreement to adopt the HEAP
• The continuation of the project after HEAP has been adopted.
• Provide steer in relation to NPA interests to be represented at the HEP.

Role Purpose of Role Who?
Sponsor Ambassador, Advocate Julian Stedman

Heritage champion
Client Person using the professional 

advice or services
Tracy Nettleton/Helen Lucocq
Head of Planning/Strategy and 
Policy Manager

Other Board members Knowledge Helen Lucocq
Strategy and Policy Manager 
(Deputy chair of project 
board)

John Hill
Heritage Deputy Member 
Champion.
 
Paul Sinnadurai (Senior 
Ecologist Climate Change 
Adaptation)

  

Project Manager Services the Board and leads 
project team

Alice Thorne
Heritage Officer (Archaeology)

Partnership support To undertake all 
administration tasks pertaining 
to the development and 
running of the HEP and the 
HEAP.  

Policy Assistant

Page 54



7

Comms Development of project 
Comms

Communications Officer

2.1.6 The POG will screen the HEAP against all environmental regulations to determine the need 
for Habitats Regulations Assessment and Strategic Environmental Assessment and where 
necessary undertake said assessments.  The project board will advise the HEP on such 
matters during the drafting and implementation of the HEAP.

2.1.7 The NPA will host all meetings of the HEP.  The de facto location for meetings of the HEP 
will be the Committee Room of the Authority’s headquarters.  At time of writing 
restrictions in movement relating to the coronavirus outbreak are still in force, and as such 
the HEP will meet virtually utilising Microsoft Teams until such a time as face-to-face 
meetings can commence.

2.1.8 The NPA will provide a secretariat to the HEP, to include 

• Minute taking of meetings
• Setting meetings and coordinating agendas
• Sending all documentation to members
• Any other administrative task necessary to the operation of the HEP and production 

of the HEAP.

2.1.9 The NPA will: 

 Hold any monies associated with the HEP in a ring-fenced account and provide 
accountancy services for said monies

 Take a lead role, through the project team, in authoring the HEAP with input and 
guidance of the HEP

 Bear the financial costs associated with the development of the HEP and publication 
of the HEAP

2.1.11 The final outcome of this phase of the HEAP project is the presentation of the HEAP to 
members of the NPA for adoption.

2.1.12 On adoption the NPA will publish the final HEAP in print and electronically.  The NPA will 
be responsible for the translation of the HEAP into Welsh and will publish the document 
bilingually.

2.1.13 The NPA will undertake a launch event to publicise the HEAP and its objectives.

2.1.14 The Authority will not dictate the substantive content of the HEAP nor will it be responsible 
for the delivery of all the actions listed within the HEAP.  The HEAP is intended to co-
ordinate multiple heritage operators under a single shared vision. 

Page 55



8

Beyond the scope of this Project Plan  

2.1.15 HEAP phase 2 requires a programme of implementation and monitoring.  It is anticipated 
that officers of the NPA will continue to undertake a coordinating role. Establishing data 
gathering mechanisms to undertake the required levels of monitoring and convening biannual 
meetings of the HEP to monitor progress.

2.1.16 The project team will be responsible for monitoring progress towards corporate objectives 
for the HEAP as defined in the Corporate Plan.  These will be reported to the project board 
and Audit and Scrutiny Committee through usual reporting mechanisms.

Limitations of the NPA involvement

2.1.17 The NPA is not responsible for the content of the HEAP beyond our contribution within the 
partnership. The HEAP is a product of the HEP to which the NPA is one contributing 
organisation. 

2.1.18 The NPA is responsible for the delivery of the actions to which it is attributed as lead or 
partner organisation within the HEAP.  The NPA will not provide financial support (in 
actuality or kind) to actions within the HEAP which fall to partner organisations to deliver.2 

2.1.19 If the HEP fails at any time, for whatever reason, the NPA will not be responsible for 
continuing the development of the HEAP.  Alternative mechanisms will be presented to the 
project board for consideration.

2.1.20 The agreement of an action within the HEAP does not constitute any other form of 
permission necessary from the NPA through its statutory processes.

2.1.21 Where a conflict of interest arises between the HEP/HEAP and the NPA the NPA will seek 
advice of the Monitoring Officer.  This may result in the NPA withdrawing from elements of 
the HEP/HEAP.

2.1.22 The NPA will provide officer support to the delivery of the HEAP on the following basis.  

Officer/Member Role in Project Contribution to HEAP as 
percentage of role

Head of Planning s/ 
Strategy and Policy 
Manager

Project Client 20%

Strategy and Policy 
Manager 

Project board Member 10%

Heritage Officer 
(Archaeology)

Project Manager 50%

2 This does not preclude organisations within the HEP applying to recognised grant funding sources within the 
NPA such as the SDF or HIP for funding for actions, nor the awarding of such funds should an application be 
successful. 

Page 56



9

Officer/Member Role in Project Contribution to HEAP as 
percentage of role

Senior Heritage Officer 
(Built Heritage)

Contributing Professional Lead 10%

Planning Ecologist Contributing Professional Lead 5%

Communications 
Officer 

Communications 10%

Policy Assistant Administrative Support 30%

2.1.23 The project team will apportion resources from the following budget 

Cost Value
Partnership support and admin £1000
HEAP design and print £5000
Translation costs £600
Launch event £500
General Equipment £500
Meeting Expenses £500
HEP Expenses (additional) £600
Total Costs (excluding Staff Time) £8,700

2.2 Scope of the Historic Environment Partnership (HEP)

2.2.1 The Historic Environment Partnership is a voluntary gathering of heritage organisations and 
community groups with the shared aim to improve the management of the historic 
environment of the National Park.

2.2.2 The HEP was constituted in April 2021, it is comprised of a wide ranging forum of heritage 
stakeholders and a core group of appointed representatives.  The core group will be 
responsible for the development of the HEAP.  The Authority is represented on the HEP 
core by the Heritage Champion.

2.2.3 The partnership agreement and HEP objectives are given at appendix 1 and 2 of this project 
plan.

2.2.4 The Membership of the HEP Core group is as follows:-

 Dr Paul Belford. Director, Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust. 
https://cpat.org.uk/home/about-us/  (Chair)

 Janet Bailey. Branch Lead, Brecon Beacons Young Archaeologists Club. https://www.yac-
uk.org/clubs/brecon-beacons (Vice chair)

 Dr Liz Bickerton. Trustee, the Brecknock Society and Museum Friends. 
https://brecknocksociety.co.uk/about/

 Anna Irwin. Inspector of Historic Buildings, Cadw. https://cadw.gov.wales/
 Martin Buckle. Chair, Brecon Beacons Park Society. 

 https://www.breconbeaconsparksociety.org/about-bbps/
 Dr Toby Driver. Senior Investigator (Aerial Survey), The Royal Commission on the 

Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales. https://rcahmw.gov.uk/about-us/

Page 57

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcpat.org.uk%2Fhome%2Fabout-us%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770096388%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=xHuDPl3%2FQqLMN8ZkA9nZgEMk%2F%2FYBylPWkdTr6mwlXAk%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.yac-uk.org%2Fclubs%2Fbrecon-beacons&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770096388%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=NfGZ4cZrHfuqO9xjZZtqLgOrY3OsZTDmuiHRh2R4zgg%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.yac-uk.org%2Fclubs%2Fbrecon-beacons&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770096388%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=NfGZ4cZrHfuqO9xjZZtqLgOrY3OsZTDmuiHRh2R4zgg%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fbrecknocksociety.co.uk%2Fabout%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770076395%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=XU8XG96aWZnhLHC063Bq%2FVTuK%2BevJZ3ghaI5J1WBe0A%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcadw.gov.wales%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770086390%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=9pvfuGbvukvnEGchuQm6nmDuwo0ao2x4G2mQ1QzK52A%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.breconbeaconsparksociety.org%2Fabout-bbps%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770086390%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=Wvf8sJfBh4nAJCyEk3ldqnU6GL3aExmsCLCtfMkAQ1M%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Frcahmw.gov.uk%2Fabout-us%2F&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770106386%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=bYQCuWADDV94jO42bxCHybRR4zfPHWtFwcoAwlnXV1Y%3D&reserved=0


10

 Elizabeth Jeffreys. Project Director of the Brecon Heritage & Cultural Network. 
https://breconstory.wales/home

 Julian Stedman, BBNPA Heritage Member Champion

2.3 Scope of the Historic Environment Action Plan 

2.3.1 The HEAP is a written document which expresses the strategic priorities for the 
management of the historic environment of the National Park as defined through the HEP.  
The HEAP will set out the actions the HEP believe necessary to achieve a thriving historic 
environment which is managed in accordance with the purposes and duty of the National 
Park.

2.3.2 The HEAP will have a 15-year horizon but will cover work programmes for the HEP 
organisations for the period 2022-2027.  

2.3.5 The HEAP will be consulted over two phases 

Phase 1 Issues Vision and Objectives

Phase 2 the Action Plan to deliver on the Issues Vision and Objectives.

2.3.6 The Critical Tasks to adoption are set out below

Page 58

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fbreconstory.wales%2Fhome&data=04%7C01%7CAlice.Thorne%40beacons-npa.gov.uk%7C3f366444e7aa41ae078508d91b674e62%7C05d91053951442859666ce29917a689c%7C1%7C0%7C637570952770106386%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=Mzg0Devp2Lu6ULu7Aa5ubvdS0FGDPW%2FEwCxRsnNwEuo%3D&reserved=0


11

P
age 59



12

P
age 60



13

P
age 61



14

P
age 62



15

3.0 Roles and Responsibilities 

3.1 The HEAP will be delivered through the collaborative action of the HEP supported by the 
Project Team and the Project board.  The roles and responsibilities of the project delivery 
are set out in the tables below.

Project Role Project Sponsor

Officer 
assigned

Heritage Champion 

Project Board

Responsibility of Role: 

The Project Sponsor will have direct responsibility for the delivery of the HEAP as outlined 
within this project plan, and in accordance with the NPA objectives for the HEAP as set out 
in the Corporate Plan.  

The Project Sponsor will report against the NPA objectives for the HEAP as reported in 
the Corporate Plan to both the project board and Audit and Scrutiny committee.

Project Role Project Client

Officer 
assigned

Head of Planning  / Strategy and Policy Manager

Project Team reporting to Project board

Responsibility of Role: 

The Project Client will provide reports to the Project board on a monthly basis updating of 
progress in accordance with this project plan.  

The Project Client will provide guidance in terms of timelines and reporting schedules to 
the Professional Manager in relation to the delivery of the HEAP.

The Project Client will lead weekly meetings of the Project Team to drive progress and 
problem solve issues.

The Project Client has overall budgetary control.

Page 63



16

Project Role Project board Member

Project board

Responsibility of Role: All project board members will have collective responsibility for the 
quality and delivery of the Project Team outputs in accordance with the NPA priorities set 
for the HEAP as set out in the Corporate Plan 21/22

It will be the responsibility of the Project board to agree draft outputs for final publication 
to relevant agendas of the NPA/HEP.

Project Role Organisational Member of HEP Core Group

HEP

Responsibility of Role: Organisational members of the HEP will be expected to attend each 
meeting of the HEP, to provide inputs from the perspective of their organisation and/or 
heritage specialism.  Organisational members of the HEP will be expected to collaborate on 
draft material provided through digital channels and review material provided formally as 
annex to the HEP meeting agendas.  Organisational members of the HEP will be expected 
to contribute to the development of the following key elements of the HEAP:-

- Evidence base for the historic environment of the National Park

- Phase 1 Issues Vision and Objectives

- Phase 2 Action Plan to deliver on the Issues Vision and Objectives.

HEP members will also be expected to seek to work to deliver the vision and objectives 
through the identification of specific actions they can undertake on the ground (either alone 
or in partnership).  HEP organisational members will be expected to commit to the delivery 
of any such action and provide monitoring data in relation to the completion and 
effectiveness of the action to the HEP for future annual reporting. 

Project Role Project Manager

Officer 
assigned

Heritage Officer (Archaeology)

Project Team reporting to Project Client

Responsibility of Role: The Project Manager / Professional Lead takes the lead co-ordinating 
role within the Authority.  The Project Manager is responsible for the following key tasks 

- Establishment of the HEP – through identification of key partners and invitation to 
form Partnership

- Drafting of HEAP text in accordance with the direction provided by the HEP

Page 64



17

- Reviewing survey material to assist in the development of vision and objectives.

- Drafting of Agendas, reports and NPA based supporting papers to HEP

- Presentation of HEAP to NPA for consultation/drafting

- Drafting of report of Consultation for the HEAP

- Liaising with internal colleagues to co-ordinate environmental assessment of the 
HEAP

- Undertaking monitoring of the HEAP and drafting of annual report for the 
HEAP/HEP

Project Role Administration Support 

Officer 
assigned

Policy Assistant

Project Team reporting to Project Manager

Responsibility of Role: To undertake all administration tasks pertaining to the development 
and running of the HEP and the HEAP.  Including

- Sending invitations to meetings

- Compiling and publishing agendas

- Minuting meetings of the HEP

- Minuting meetings of the Project board

- Administrative support in the drafting of Agendas reports and NPA supporting 
papers

- Administrative tasks associated with the consultation phase

- Administrative tasks associated with the launch event, including hiring meeting 
rooms, and purchasing of equipment

Project Role Communications officer

Officer 
assigned

Communications Officer 

Project Team reporting to Project Manager

Responsibility of Role: To provide professional support in the dissemination of the work of 
the HEP and the HEAP through appropriate communication channels.  

- Develop and implement a communications plan, to include:

To publicise the establishment of the HEP and intention to develop a HEAP

Page 65



18

To publicise progress of the HEAP

To publicise consultation and seek stakeholder feedback

To notify adoption of the HEAP

Publicise works arising from the adopted HEAP

- Public survey

Page 66



19

Appendix 1

Brecon Beacons National Park

Historic Environment Partnership (HEP) Agreement

1. The HEP will represent a voluntary partnership of heritage organisations and community 
groups with the shared aim to improve the management of the historic environment of the 
Park.

2. The HEP will comprise of a ‘core group’ and a wider partnership called the Historic 
Environment Partnership Forum which will act as a reference group to provide a steer for 
moving forward.

3. The Historic Environment Partnership Forum will meet annually for progress reporting, 
gaining feedback, information exchange and co-opting members on to the Core Group.  

4. The Core Action Group will: 

a. Will have responsibility for oversight, strategic direction, and coordination of 
progress.

b. Will establish a series of Partnership workshops/ working groups. 

c. Will explore and develop funding opportunities for the historic environment 
of the park 

d. Will produce a 5year Historic Environment Action Plan for the BBNP and will 
drive it forward.

e. Will organize the Annual Partnership forum Meeting to present and review 
progress. 

f. Will present an annual report to NPA to inform corporate reporting and 
performance management. 

5. The Historic Environment Partnership Forum will:

a. have individual and collective responsibility to pursue agreed actions for the 
improved management of the historic environment of the National Park,

b. represent their organisation’s/area interests and facilitate inclusion of a wide 
range of perspectives and engagements with the historic environment,

Page 67



20

c. input to priority topics/areas workshop/ and or working groups.

6. The BBNPA will: 

a. provide a secretariat to the HEP, to include:  

 Minute taking of meetings 
 Setting meetings and coordinating agendas 
 Sending all documentation to members 
 Contact and Coordination: Any other administrative task necessary to the 

operation of the HEP and production of the HEAP. 

b. host all meetings of the HEP. These will be held at the National Park Authority 
offices, or utilize video conferencing as appropriate. 

c. Lead in authoring the HEAP with input and guidance of the HEP 

 Bear the financial cost associated with the development of the HEP and 
publication of the HEAP 

 Undertake all arrangements in relation to consultation on the draft HEAP, 
including publication of consultation materials on the Authority's website 

 Process all consultation responses into a comprehensive report for 
response by the HEP 

 Revise the draft HEAP as agreed through the HEP and present it to the 
Project board for final sign off.

 Present the HEAP to BBNPA members of the NPA for adoption. 
 On adoption the NPA will publish the final HEAP in print and electronically. 

The NPA will be responsible for the translation of the HEAP into Welsh 
and will publish the document bilingually. 

 The NPA will undertake a launch event to publicise the HEAP and its 
objectives. 

 The Authority will not dictate the substantive content of the HEAP nor 
will it be responsible for the delivery of all the actions listed within the 
HEAP. The HEAP is intended to co-ordinate multiple heritage operators 
under a single shared vision.

d. Hold any monies associated with the HEP in a ring-fenced account and provide 
accountancy services for said monies 

7. The HEP will focus on the historic environment of the area falling within or partially within 
the boundary of the Brecon Beacons National Park. 

8. The HEP will operate without generating significant cost. The cost burden of meeting 
actions will be met through the operational budgets of partner organisations. 

Page 68



21

9. The HEP has no statutory function and has no statutory requirement to deliver on actions 
within the HEAP beyond that of the usual functioning of the partner organisations. 

10. The HEP will represent a voluntary partnership. There is no requirement for any partner 
to attend or contribute. However, all members should actively contribute to the 
collective goal of promoting the beneficial management of the Historic Environment of 
the NP. 

 An annual report will be produced each year summarising the outcomes of the HEP and setting the 
agenda for the year ahead. 

Page 69



22

Appendix 2 Purpose of the Historic Environment Partnership 

BRECON BEACONS HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT PARTNERSHIP 
(HEP) 
 
 
The historic environment is the physical manifestation of Wales’ cultural heritage; a precious 
inheritance that we must care for and pass on to our children to love, cherish and enjoy (Lord Ellis 
Thomas, Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism 2018).
 
Purpose:
             

 To celebrate, conserve and enhance the historic environment of the National Park.
 
Aim: 
 

 To establish a voluntary partnership of heritage organisations and community groups 
with the shared aim to improve the management of the historic environment of the 
Park.

 To raise the profile and awareness of the significance of the Historic Environment of 
the BBNPA Park.

 
Desired Outcomes: 
 

 To develop and implement an Historic Environment Action Plan which will contain 
shared objectives between organisations including the BBNPA.

 To promote participation and inclusivity in the management of the area’s Historic 
Environment and Cultural Heritage.

 To promote recording, monitoring and best practice management of the Historic 
Environment of the National Park.

 To align values; improve understanding of the role of different stakeholders and each 
other's priorities.

 To increase access to funding for the Historic Environment.
 To promote Historic Environment input to the development of policies, strategies and 

agendas at National, Regional and Local level. 
 To inform development of the National Park Management Plan, the Local 

Development Plan and support statutory authorities in the conservation and 
celebration of the historic environment for current and future generations. 

 
Appendix 1: DRAFT Framework for Working 
 
The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Statutory Purposes: 
 
Our Primary Purposes: 

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National 
Park 

Page 70



23

 To promote opportunities for public enjoyment and understanding of the special qualities of 
the National Park 

Our Duty: 
 To foster the economic and social well-being of communities living within the National Park 

 
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 
 
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act sets out 7 Wellbeing Goals:   

 A Prosperous Wales  
 A Resilient Wales 
 A Healthier Wales 
 A More Equal Wales 
 A Wales of Cohesive Communities 
 A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language 
 A Globally Responsible Wales 

And 5 ways of working to achieve these goals:  
 Long term,  
 Integration,  
 Collaboration,  
 Involvement  
 Prevention 

 
A Framework for Partnership Working:  
The table below highlights ways through which the Historic Environment Partnership may 
bring collaborative advantage and maximize impact: 
 
Connection Networking, connecting, building relationships 
Complementarity Bringing together essential complementary resources 
System transformation  Harmonization / coordination of key system actors' resources / 

instruments  
Standards  Creating collective legitimacy and knowledge  
Innovation  Combining diverse resources, thinking, approaches  
Holism  Integration and Coherence; Convening holistic range of actors 

across traditional silos  
Shared learning  Creating a mechanism for collective learning and capability-

building  
Shared risk  Collectively sharing risk of major investments / implementation  
Synergy  Aligning programmes / resources and cooperating to exploit 

synergies  
Scale  Combining delivery capacity across geographies  
Critical mass  Collectively providing sufficient weight of action  
Taken and adapted from Maximising the Impact of Partnerships for the SDGs ; Stibbe, D.T., Reid, S., 
Gilbert, J.; The Partnering Initiative and UN DESA (2019) 
 

Page 71



24

GANT Chart

 

P
age 72



Information report on salary budget headroom 2021/22

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 21 June 2021

Report Author Elaine Standen

Job title Finance Manager

Contact Details Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To advise Members on the updated uncommitted salary 
budget for 2021/22

Recommendation(s) a) That the report be noted

1.1 Introduction or Background
At a previous meeting of the Authority the Transition Director was asked to report back to 
the Authority on the impact on the salaries budget of recent staffing and establishment 
decisions and confirm the balance of uncommitted salary budget.

1.2 Salary Headroom 
The HR Officer and Finance Manager have reviewed the staffing budget, updated for all 
temporary posts, establishment vacancies, departures, internal appointments and acting up 
arrangements as well as the permanent appointment agreed at the last NPA.  

The provisional allowance made for the original senior management structure proposal (extant 
when the budget was approved by the Authority back in February 2021) has been taken out of 
the budget.

Overall, including oncosts (employers’ National Insurance and Pension contribution costs) there 
is an estimated unallocated amount of £327,000 for the current year based on the information 
currently available.   This would equate to total salary-only budget of approximately £246,000, 
plus oncosts.

For Members’ information, the salary of a senior management post at the top of the current 
Grade 13 scale is £47,000 per annum.  

Page 73

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk


PAY
Employers’ 
NI

Employers’ 
Pension TOTAL

£ £ £ £

Total Salary budget in 
original 2021/22 estimate 2,942,620 262,155 592,868 3,797,643

Updated estimate 2,696,886 232,428 541,492 3,470,806

Headroom 245,734 29,727 51,376 326,837

1.3 Conclusion

The salary budget has an unallocated element of £246,000 plus oncosts, reflecting the high 
number of vacancies currently being carried by the Authority.  The budget impact of any posts 
appointed in June or later will clearly be for less than a full year, so it is important that the full-
year costs of any proposed establishment changes during the remainder of 2021/22 are covered 
for future years.  

RECOMMENDATION(S):

That the report be noted

Page 74



Authority Risk Register

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 21 June 2021

Report Author Stephanie Evans

Job title Transition Director

Contact Details Stephanie.evans@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To advise members of the current risk register, as requested 
by the Deputy Chair.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Current Risk Register

Enclosure 2: Link to Previous report to Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee (Item 10)

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) To note the report

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Authority’s Risk Register is routinely reported to the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee, and a link to the last report is given above.  The Deputy Chair requested 
that this be brought to the full Authority to ensure that all members were aware of 
current risks.

The Risk Register was previously logged and reported through the Ffynnon performance 
database; on the expiry of that product, and since the departure of the officer with 
responsibility for this, Democratic Services have extracted the information and are 
taking this to the Corporate Governance Team for review and update before reporting 
quarterly to Audit and Scrutiny Committee.  This is a short term measure as capacity is 
severely stretched within the team and while it is accepted that risk should be a 

Page 75

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Stephanie.evans@beacons-npa.gov.uk
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g7913/Public%20reports%20pack%2007th-May-2021%2010.00%20Audit%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/g7913/Public%20reports%20pack%2007th-May-2021%2010.00%20Audit%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10


collective responsibility it is hoped to identify resource to manage this important area of 
work.

The Corporate Governance Team is due to review the Risk Register again shortly but 
members are welcome to ask questions of officers in the meeting about any mitigating 
actions.

Legal risks are monitored separately and a full report was brought to the last meeting, 
taken in the exempt part of the meeting due to its content.

All members are able to access Audit and Scrutiny agendas through Modern.gov, and are 
welcome to observe any meeting of the committee.

1.2 Implications and Risk

While key compliance and risks are being addressed the continuing lack of staff capacity 
impacts on the ability of staff to deliver further mitigating actions, and members are 
asked to note this.

1.3 Conclusion

Members are asked to note the report and seek clarification on any points.

RECOMMENDATION: To note the report.

Page 76



Risk ID

Date of 

Update

R001 15/04/21

R002 15/04/21

R003 15/04/21

R004 15/04/21

Risk Register

COVID-19

Risk Description Probability RAG

Amber

Access to the Park

Risk to the Authority’s 

reputation and public standing 

posed by C19 lock-down 

restrictions on access to the 

Park and constraints on the 

Authority’s communication of 

their rationale

Possible green

RedCapacity Risks to Delivery

Red

CommentsImpact

Fraud and Cyber Security

Threats to the Authority's 

services, functions and financial 

standing due to cyber-crime 

including fraud and data ransom

Possible Severe 

Downgraded to possible given 

the recent upgrades to IT 

systems

All staff have completed cyber 

security course on ELMS

Lockdown Alternate Working 

Arrangements
Possible Moderate

Downgraded to Possible and 

Moderate. The recent 

lockdown has meant the 

centres have had to close again 

which has resulted in 

furloughing centre staff (staff to 

return on 23rd April)

Centres re-opened 

Moderate Park is now open

The risk to the delivery of 

outcomes due to partner, 

officer and volunteer capacity 

impairment from C19 impacts 

on resources

Very Likely Severe No change

Risk to the Authority’s services 

and functions posed by C19 

lock-down alternate working 

arrangements (capacity of staff, 

health and well-being of staff, 

efficiency of processes and 

systems use)

P
age 77



R005 15/04/21

R006 15/04/21Risk to Officers and Members

Public Health Risks at Authority 

Managed Sites

Risk to the public’s health and 

wellbeing through C19 

infection, road/parking 

congestion, problematic 

behaviour and other associated 

H&S risks arising from an easing 

of access restrictions and 

consequent overcrowding

Very Unlikely

Risk to the health and well-

being of the Authority’s staff, 

members and volunteers, and 

knock-on effect on service 

delivery, of C19 infection on 

return to working from our 

premises

possible Severe

Upgraded to to possible in light 

of the new COVID variant and 

the risk of officers exposing the 

virus to other staff

Risk assessments completed for 

return to HQ and Centres

Vaccination roll out has now 

started

Severe

No change. The Authority is 

anticipating 2021 to be a busy 

year for visitor footfall

additional staff and toilets at 

honeypot sites

Green

Amber

P
age 78



Risk ID

Date of 

Update

R007 15/04/21

R008 15/04/21

R009 15/04/21

R010 15/04/21

R011 15/04/21

Corporate Services

Corporate Governance Risks

Amber

green

Amber

Interim DPO arrangement has 

been put in place although it 

requires resolution as part of 

the transition programme

Risk to DPO services

Members' compliance with 

code of conduct		
Reputation and financial impacts Possible Severe

Equality and diversity training 

has delivered to members

AW Action plan in place to 

support good behaviour

Risk Decscription Probability RAG Impact

Amber

red

Comments

Failure in Information 

Governance arrangements		

Information governance Lack of 

compliance monitoring across 

all business/service areas

likely Severe

Financial constraint

Constraint on Authority’s 

ability to deliver objectives and 

services due to restricted 

financial settlement and income

Possible Severe No change

BCP & DRP

Risk to Authority services 

through inadequate business 

continuity and disaster recovery 

arrangements

possible Severe

Upgraded to possible - cyber 

incident tested DRP and 

triggered required changes to 

IT security arrangements to 

reinforce BCP & DRP

Lack of continuity of 

membership of the National 

Park Authority	

Risk to delivery of 

organisational objectives 

through requirement to induct  

new members in decision-

making and encourage them to 

become familiar with 

organisational history and 

culture

Possible Moderate Downgraded to possible

P
age 79



R012 15/04/21

R013 15/04/21

R014 15/04/21

R015 15/04/21

Amber

Amber

red

Severe 

Downgraded to unlikely in light 

of the budget settlement and 

the forecast draft budget 

through to 2024. Reserves 

position is positive but is 

dependent on budget 

settlements for the next 2 years

Corporate capacity

Constraint on Authority’s 

ability to deliver services, meet 

obligations and realise 

opportunities due to senior 

officer capacity

Very Likely Very Severe

No change. This remains as a 

high risk throughout the 

transition period

Risk has increased from the 

review in January 2021. Risk 

possibility and impact now 

critical exacerbated by length of 

transition period

Welsh Language Act

Risk to the Authority's financial 

and reputational standing 

through non-compliance with 

Welsh Language Act and 

standards

possible Moderate

Upgraded to possible. 

Correspondence from WL 

comissioner is a timely 

reminder that the Authority 

needs to comply with WL 

standards

ongoing discussion with the WL 

commissioner

Red

 Inadequate general Reserves

Risk to delivery of services and 

viability of the Authority 

through being unable to meet 

exceptional unforeseen 

mandatory expenditure re: 

planning, health and safety, 

redundancy, etc. due to 

reserves being at a level 

deemed inadequate by the 

Section 151 officer

Unlikely

 Governance arrangements

Risk that the Authority's 

governance arrangements are 

not adequate to meet its 

statutory, regulatory and 

operational requirements

very likely very severe

Reviewed, upgraded to very 

likely and very severe to reflect 

the risk of losing DPO and MO

P
age 80



R016 15/04/21

R017 15/04/21

R018 15/04/21

Risk ID

Date of 

Update

R019 15/04/21

R020 15/04/21

Health and Safety

Amber

Red

Amber

Uncertainty of Authority 

accommodation 

The continuing uncertainty over 

the future of Plas y Ffynnon 

/changing accommodation 

arrangements are disruptive to 

its service delivery

Possible Severe No change

Asset management 

arrangements

Reputational and financial risks 

associated with property and 

land assets

Likely Severe

CGT reviewed the draft asset 

management plan and proposals 

from c&a. The reports will be 

taken to the Audit & Scrutiny 

Committee to consider at the 

Jan 2021 meeting

Currently nobody to take the 

work forward until the 

property post is in place

Legal issues

The risk that legal proceedings 

bring negative financial and 

reputational impacts

Possible Moderate

The Authority is now taking 

high level legal risks to ASC 

meetings and keeping under 

review

no change

Compliance failure/litigation: 

our estate

The risk to the Authority 

brought about by a failure in 

health and safety compliance 

within the Authority's land or 

buildings resulting in the 

potential for litigation

Possible Very Severe

No change

Internal process in place

Risk Decscription Probability Impact Comments

Compliance failure/litigation: 

external		

The risk to the Authority 

brought about by a failure in 

health and safety compliance in 

the Park as a whole resulting in 

the potential for litigation

Possible Very Severe

No change

Procedures in place to monitor 

H&S

RAG

amber

Amber

P
age 81



Risk ID

Date of 

Update

R021 15/04/21

R022 15/04/21

Information and IT Risks

Risk Decscription Probability 

Spatial data RM

Poor decision making due to 

lack of ownership and upkeep 

of spatial data

possible Moderate

Upgraded from unlikely - Cyber 

incident and remote working 

are still placing stresses on 

record management

Impact Comments

Hardcopy RM
Lack of hardcopy key document 

management
Possible Moderate No changeAmber

Amber

RAG

P
age 82



Risk ID

Date of 

Update

R025 15/04/21

R026 15/04/21

R027 15/04/21

R028 15/04/21

Delivery / Countryside

Risk Decscription Probability Impact CommentsRAG

Paths and RoW 

erode/deteriorate - lack of 

funding/mgtm plans, env impacts

also environmental impacts Likely Moderate

More use of paths over 

lockdown is leading to higher 

maintenance burdens

Amber

Buildings condition and 

maintenance

Lack of strategic continuity 

planning for BBNPA buildings & 

structures

Possible Moderate

No planned building maintence 

in place, repairs are done on a 

reactive basis.

Up to date on compliance 

matters (electric certificates 

etc)

Disrupted access to 

Gunpowder Works

Risk that access dispute 

disrupts Authority's ability to 

deliver its work programme 

and/or has an impact on 

reputation, finance and other 

resources

Possible Severe
 negotiations ongoing to resolve 

access dispute

red

Red

Short term contracts and role 

continuity

Business continuity and 

reputation risk arising from 

increasing reliance on fixed 

term project-focussed contracts

Very Likely Severe
No change. change programme 

for senior level staff on pause
Red

P
age 83



Risk ID

Date of 

Update

R029 15/04/21

R032 15/04/21

R033 15/04/21

R034 15/04/21

R035 15/04/21

R036 15/04/21

Planning

Impact Comments

Risk from Members overturning 

planning recommendations

Members' prerogative to 

overturn decisions but may 

have financial impact if 

challenged

Possible Severe Managed ongoing risk

RAGRisk Decscription Probability 

amber

Degradation of cultural and 

historical heritage, including 

buildings at risk.

Lack of resource Likely Minor

No change. The Authority has 

approveda  project plan or the 

HEAP and has agreed the 

heritage grant will be delivered 

through the SDF mechanism

DM Service Performance

Risk to the Park's special 

qualities and Authority's 

reputation through poor DM 

service performance

possible Severe
Downgraded to possible and 

amber

Amber

amber

Enforcement Service 

Performance

Risk to the park's environment 

through poor enforcement 

service performance

possible Severe
Downgraded to possible and 

amber

Personal safety of staff

Risk to staff safety in relation to 

site vists and interaction to 

members of the public

Possible Severe

No change. The focus on 

remote working is on 

undertaking meetings virtually 

and complying with covid 

requirements when on site

Amber

amber

 Internal applications

Risk to finance, reputation and 

staff relations from necessity 

for internal applications since 

new legal advice

possible Moderate

Downgraded to possible. The 

Authority has a robust 

mechanism in place to ensure 

appliactions are handled 

transparently

Amber

P
age 84



R037 15/04/21

R039 15/04/21

R038

Risk to the functioning of the 

planning authority in areas of 

the park affected by phosphate 

issue.  Lack of progress on 

planning applications leading to 

increased numbers of appeals 

and reputational risk

Very likely Red Severe

Protocol is in place to address 

applications which have the 

potential to further impact the 

SACs.  Communiciations 

strategy developed.  

Collaborative working towards 

solution with stakeholders

15/04/21

Red
Risk associated with limitations 

on scheme of delegation 

Risk to functioning of planning 

service relating to pressures 

placed on head of service, 

through limited capacity to 

share planning application sign 

off

Very likely Severe

Review of scheme of delegation 

to enable better distribution of 

sign off powers and limiting of 

pressure on single individual

timetable, soundness and 

adoption of LDP

Risks to the timetable for 

delivery, tests of soundness and 

ultimate adoption of LDP2

very likely severe

The Authority has agreed a 

revised delivery timetable for 

LDP and confirmation from 

WG that current LDP will carry 

on until new LDP is adopted

Red

Environmental capacity of 

riverine SACs exceeded due to 

non compliance for acceptable 

phosphate levels

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	NPA Minutes - 28-05-21

	7 Prudential Code Treasury Management Report and Borrowing Approvals for 2021/22
	8 Remit of the Policy Forum
	Enc 1 - Decision making bodies

	9 Phosphates: The current situation and suggested next steps
	10 HEAP Project plan update
	Enc. 1 for HEAP Project plan update

	11 Salary Headroom Report
	12 Risk Register
	RiskRegister NPA


